
 
I N C O R P O R A T E D  1 8 9 6  

1333 Park Avenue 
Emeryville, California 94608-3517 

Tel: (510) 596-4300 | Fax: (510) 596-4389 

 
Emeryville Economic Development Advisory Committee 
William C. Reuter, Chair 
Mary Lou Thiercof, Vice Chair 
Ken Bukowski 
Brandee Grant 
Krisna Hanks 
Alexandria LaRoche  
Traci Rodarte-Young 
VACANT, Member 
VACANT, Member 

Action Minutes 
Emeryville Economic Development Advisory Committee 

Special Meeting  
Emeryville Civic Center, 1333 Park Avenue 

City Council Chambers, Emeryville, CA 94608 
Wednesday, September 21, 2016 11:30 AM 

 
I. Call to Order and Roll Call: 
 
The meeting was called to order at 11:30 am  
 
Members Present:  Chair Bill Reuter, Vice Chair Mary Lou Thiercof, Ken Bukowski, Traci 

Rodarte-Young, Krisna Hanks and Alexandria LaRoche. 
Members Absent:  Brandee Grant  
Members Excused:   
Staff Present:  Charles S. Bryant, Community Development Director, Chadrick Smalley, 

Economic Development and Housing (EDH) Manager, Michael Guina, 
City Attorney 

 
II. Public Comment   

None 
 

III. Approval of Minutes 
 

Motion by member Krisna Hanks to approve, Vice Chair Mary Lou Thiercof seconded.  
The July 20, 2016 meeting minutes were approved unanimously (6-0). 
 
IV. Action Items 

Item 4.1 - Comments and Recommendations - Fair Workweek Ordinance  

Chair Reuter requested a staff report to set the context for public comment on this item.  EDH 
Manager Chadrick Smalley provided an overview of Fair Workweek policy in general as well 
as the specific direction to staff received during the City Council’s August 16, 2016 study 
session on the topic. 

Public Comment: Marilyn Boucher, Owner of Broken Rack, thanked the EDAC for calling the 
special meeting and noted that the City has improved its process as compared to the 



Economic Development Advisory Committee Minutes 
July 20, 2016 
Page 2 of 8 

 

Minimum Wage Ordinance by soliciting the opinion of business and collecting data through 
the employee survey.  Boucher asked the EDAC to value the study conducted by staff, and 
noted that that the study has received unfounded criticism.  Regarding the Fair Workweek 
Ordinance options selected by the City Council; the Council included predictability pay for 
employee initiated but employer implemented schedule changes with less than 24 hour 
advance notice.  This is the majority of schedule changes, and EBASE [the East Bay Alliance 
for a Sustainable Economy] claims these changes create stress for staff members called into 
cover these shifts. These changes also cause stress for employers.  EBASE implies 
everyone is a single parent household and too scared of their employers to refuse schedule 
changes; however, the City’s survey shows otherwise, and indicates that few people have an 
issue with scheduling practices.  Boucher said it is unfair, when an employee causes a 
problem; that the employer would have to pay sick leave and predictability pay in order to 
cover a shift.  Boucher believes staff will be cut and employees will lose opportunities to pick 
up hours as a consequence.  Boucher understands the goal is to force the employer to staff 
up in case of callouts, but the possible outcomes are unknown, because San Francisco 
doesn’t include the provision to require predictability pay for these types of schedule changes.  
Regarding the offer of hours provisions, City staff included this provision in its 
recommendation and staff had said there was little complaint from the business community 
regarding this provision.  There should be an exemption if a lower number of employees 
would hinder a business from covering a callout.  Boucher related an experience at her own 
business that spoke to this topic.  Boucher said she understands the desire to promote more 
full time work when employers are using part time employees to avoid certain labor costs, but 
noted that cost avoidance is not the only reason employers use part time employees.  The 
offer of hours policy effectively gives tenure to existing employees, but some existing 
employees may be mediocre performers.  These are employees that are not terminable, but 
their performance is lacking.  Employers should be able to discriminate on the basis of 
performance.  EBASE is overstating the retaliation factor, the idea that work schedules are 
used as a disciplinary tool, and the willingness of employers to hire additional staff.  It is 
expensive to hire staff.  In the end as a practical matter employers cannot compel people to 
come in for work they were not scheduled for.  Boucher thanked the EDAC. 

Stevie Miles, former manager at Barnes and Noble and Starbucks at Powell Street Plaza, 
spoke to the benefits of the ordinance for managers.  Miles said she was responsible for 
scheduling at both businesses (Barnes and Noble and Starbucks).  Increased advance notice 
of schedules boosts employee morale and reduces callouts.  When callouts do occur, 
predictability pay for the employee who is called in to cover the shift is cheaper for the 
operation because the incentive to come in avoids having the store manager make a large 
number of calls from the office to find someone to cover the shift.  Predictability pay makes 
filling shifts faster. 

Member Hanks asked Miles where she works now.  Miles indicated she works at Title 9 
Sports.  Member LaRoche asked Miles whether she was an hourly or salaried employee in 
her previous management roles, Miles replied that she was hourly. 

Kelby Peeler, former manager at Barnes and Noble, said he wasn’t planning on speaking but 
felt the need to discuss the idea of who is at fault for callouts.  Peeler said it is true that the 
employer is not at fault; however it is also not the fault of the employee called in to cover the 
shift.  Predictability pay should be seen as a distribution of the burden, not a penalty.  The 
called in employee must restructure their day and activities, and predictability pay seeks to 



Economic Development Advisory Committee Minutes 
July 20, 2016 
Page 3 of 8 

 

equalize this burden.  Peeler noted he has heard the comments regarding “good actor” 
establishments but said that historically ordinances have not been passed only for situations 
where most are bad actors.   

Member Hanks asked Peeler whether he works or lives in Emeryville.  Peeler indicated he 
does not currently, that he was retaliated against for speaking on this issue, and quit Barnes 
and Noble because he wouldn’t be allowed to use Barnes and Noble’s name in public 
comments. 

Jennifer Lin, of EBASE, said she recognizes that her organization’s name has come up in this 
and prior EDAC meetings.  Lin encouraged focus on the reason for the Fair Workweek policy, 
to increase stability for low wage workers.  Seattle has passed and included predictability pay 
for all schedule changes made within the two week notice period.  A state bill is being 
considered similar to Seattle’s ordinance.  Lin indicated she recognizes that the EDAC brings 
business experience to bear on the topic, and hopes that they listen to employees. 

Jessica Lynam, of the California Restaurant Association, said that Boucher did a good job 
explaining the business’ perspective on this topic and as a consequence will not address this.  
Lynam noted that the state bill referenced by Lin is “dead” for this year, and that the largest 
issue surrounding it was the inclusion of predictability pay.  The predictability pay provisions 
in the state bill were more expansive than that proposed in Emeryville’s ordinance.  Fast food 
establishments are to be covered by the ordinance and that most of these businesses are 
franchises.  If the intent is to punish corporations, then this ordinance does not fulfill its 
purpose.  The fast food businesses to be regulated are small, and many are minority and 
women owned businesses.  For some, these are first time business owners.  In a franchise 
arrangement the corporation provides branding and marketing but the owner of the franchise 
does all of the employee scheduling.  This policy may work for large box retail businesses, 
but will not work for restaurants because the industry is designed for flexibility.  Lynam noted 
that restaurants are different from retailers, and said she wants to continue the dialog and find 
a solution to be able to continue to provide flexibility for those employees who want it.  

Mildric Broadwater, Human Resources Director for Ikea Emeryville, thanked the EDAC for 
calling the meeting, and urged the EDAC to consider the concerns expressed.  Broadwater 
said that Ikea takes employee needs seriously.  Ikea currently provides three weeks’ advance 
schedule notice to employees.  Regarding the right to decline schedule changes made within 
seven days, workers know in advance if they want changes to their regular schedule and they 
can voice their concerns regarding the schedule.  Regarding predictability pay for schedule 
changes with less than 24 hours’ notice, Broadwater said this is not an issue for Ikea, noting 
that when employees are called in it is viewed positively because the called in employee gets 
more hours.  In this situation, Ikea provides sick pay, and pay for the hours actually worked.  
If the employee cannot come in to cover a shift, they can decline.  Regarding the offer of 
hours provisions, Ikea already offers hours to existing employees before hiring new part time 
staff.  Ikea provides additional hours, even across departments, and promotes job sharing.  
Regarding the employee’s right to decline clopenings, Broadwater said this is no problem for 
Ikea and Ikea already avoids this in its current scheduling practices.  Some companies may 
be concerned about this provision, but Ikea is not.  Broadwater said not all companies need 
this ordinance, and Ikea requests not to be included in the ordinance. 



Economic Development Advisory Committee Minutes 
July 20, 2016 
Page 4 of 8 

 

Vice Chair Theircof asked Broadwater how she would view a certification process that 
recognizes current policies.  Broadwater said she would need more information in order to 
opine. 

Kim Winston, Director of State Government Affairs for Starbucks Coffee Company, thanked 
the EDAC for the debate and study of the Fair Workweek topic.  Winston said that Starbucks 
is already responsive to the objectives, and that Starbucks provides three weeks advance 
notice of schedules.  All employees are offered an availability form upon hire, and managers 
use this form to build a store schedule.  That this ensures employees have input into their 
schedules.  Upon reviewing the research conducted, Winston questions the need for this 
legislation in Emeryville.  For example, 9 of 10 employees reported they have input in their 
work schedules, and this suggests there is not a problem.  Only 12% of employees reported 
that short notice changes were a problem, and this is a small minority of employees.  40% of 
employees said they need additional hours, Starbucks already offers additional hours to 
existing employees.  Regarding clopening shifts, Starbucks has banned this scheduling 
practice.  Employees would need to sign and explicitly agree to work such shifts.  Flexible 
work arrangements are offered through the employee’s availability.  Starbucks has offered 
benefits to employees, even before the Affordable Care Act was passed and that many 
employees need hours and trade shifts in order to maintain benefit eligibility.  Employees 
often need to maintain a certain number of hours to be eligible for the company’s scholarship 
program.  Employees want the ability to take time off as needed, especially students.  
Winston appreciates that there are bad actors, but does not believe that a solution should be 
pursued that could hurt the efforts of good actors as well. 

Betsy Cooley, resident, commented regarding the offer of hours provisions.  Cooley related 
how some offices where she has worked have had job openings and existing part time 
employees, and the businesses already knew that providing those hours to existing part time 
employees would have been best.  Requiring offer of hours to existing part time employees is 
too much, rather, the practice of offering hours should be encouraged.  Some existing part 
time employees are lower performers, and business should not be forced to convert them into 
full time employees.  Regulations should not be put into place to require the conversion of 
part time employees to full time.  Cooley described a situation where she worked on a part 
time basis in order to cover call outs for a business, indicated she agreed to this 
arrangement, and said it worked out fine and was not an inconvenience for her.  Some 
employees have schedules where this sort of on-call basis works for them. 

Samuel Romero, organizer for Alliance of Californians for Community Empowerment [ACCE], 
said he was engaged with the “Fight for $15” minimum wage campaign before being involved 
with the Fair Workweek initiative.  Romero said that a Fair Workweek policy would benefit fast 
food business significantly, fast food employees especially.  Romero related how he has 
heard from many people hired in fast food and have schedules provided on a last minute 
basis, that these employees often have two or three jobs, and this causes difficulties when an 
employer is inflexible.  This is especially difficult for monolingual Spanish-speaking 
households since some of these employees work with managers that do not speak Spanish.  
The resultant language barrier means that monolingual workers can easily be taken 
advantage of.  Romero noted that many franchisees own several stores. 

Member Rodarte-Young asked Romero if he thought these employees were offered full time 
at one job, would they quit the other jobs?  Romero said yes, but this would depend in part on 
where the higher minimum wage is.  Member Hanks asked, during the minimum wage 



Economic Development Advisory Committee Minutes 
July 20, 2016 
Page 5 of 8 

 

campaign, were Emeryville employees contacted specifically?  Romero said yes, employees 
from the entire area were contacted, including in Emeryville.  Hanks inquired on and how this 
conversation was initiated.  Romero said that he would visit stores and tell employees he is 
trying to establish a union, then he would ask about any issues the employees are having in 
their stores. 

Anya Svanoe, organizer for ACCE, said she has spent the past year organizing workers in 
Emeryville.  Svanoe said that having surveyed hundreds of employees herself, she believes 
that in stores employees are not comfortable expressing themselves.  The City survey says 
that surveyors began working in parking lots and other public places, but then started to go 
into stores to conduct surveys.  Svanoe said that from her experience, employees are not 
comfortable talking about these matters at work and feels that this is a serious flaw of the 
City’s study.  Svanoe’s survey found different results.  Svanoe said she knows there are good 
actors, but corporate policy is not always the actual practice, due to the store manager.  The 
purpose of the Fair Workweek Ordinance is to make sure the most vulnerable are protected, 
and that this is the role of the government.  Regarding the offer of hours provisions, one 
employee of Marshalls told Svanoe they were assigned no shifts for an entire month, 
meanwhile hiring new staff.  Svanoe noted the offer of hours provision still allows the 
employers’ discretion on who to reward with additional hours. 

 

Discussion: Vice Chair Thiercof asked EDH Manager Smalley how the definition of covered 
employer went from 55 or more employees in Emeryville to 15 or more employees.  Smalley 
clarified that the 55 or more Emeryville employees threshold was staff’s recommendation to 
the City Council, but that at the August 16 study session the City Council directed staff to 
develop an ordinance applicable to 12 or more locations globally and more than 15 
employees in Emeryville. 

Member Hanks said it appears that cities are adopting these ordinances based on minimal 
research, noting that some work has been done but each city has its own version of the 
ordinances.  Data on how these ordinances perform is needed in order to proceed.  The fiscal 
impact of the ordinance is high in light of the number of people helped by the ordinance.  
Hanks asked what is the economic benefit of the ordinance, noting that the East Bay 
Economic Development Alliance agrees that additional research is needed.  Nine of ten 
employees have input into their schedules and Hanks asked what the City is doing to reward 
those businesses doing good things?  Hanks voiced support for Marilyn Boucher’s comments 
regarding predictability pay for employee initiated changes, relating how as an employer, she 
does not want to change the schedule, but changes are typically to accommodate 
employees.  Hanks noted that it seems harsh to penalize this activity.  Regarding clopenings, 
a lot of this problem relates to transportation more than scheduling practices due to the 
distances some people must travel. 

Member Rodarte-Young said she wouldn’t step back necessarily due to a lack of research, 
but would like to continue to bring ideas forward, noting that it is good that some retailers 
have supportive scheduling policies but that these may not equate to the actual practice.   
Rodarte-Young asked what might be the financial benefits to the City, since so few of these 
employees live in Emeryville, and that the ordinance should not be based on other cities 
research, since conditions can vary.  Rodarte-Young said she is concerned for the vulnerable 
population, and impacts on health.  The ordinance is narrow and lacking flexibility, and the 



Economic Development Advisory Committee Minutes 
July 20, 2016 
Page 6 of 8 

 

topic merits another look.  Rodarte-Young commended the city for being at the forefront, and 
asked to take another look at flexibility and compare to research. 

Member Bukowski said the ordinance is unnecessary and seeks to solve a problem that 
doesn’t exist.  The matter is political, and most schedule changes are due to employees that 
don’t show up to work, or hop from job to job.  Bukowski expressed concern that the 
ordinance would discourage people from doing business in Emeryville, and agreeed with 
Member Rodarte-Young’s comments. 

Member LaRoche said that consideration of this ordinance does not help the City of 
Emeryville in terms of its reputation as a place to do business.  LaRoche asked in hotels, 
which pay transient occupancy tax (TOT), what happens if corporate headquarters leave the 
City due to its reputation?  This could be damaging to the economics of the city.  There is no 
chamber of commerce or convention and visitors bureau, and no other agency to advocate or 
serve as the voice of business.  The risk of the ordinance is that, for the customers that fund 
TOT (i.e. the employees of companies headquartered in Emeryville) they may choose to 
locate elsewhere. 

Member Hanks asked EDH Manager Smalley how many surveys were taken inside stores.  
Smalley answered about 20%, and never with management present. 

Chair Reuter asked the membership weather it agrees the City should do something to 
increase the stability for workers.  Whether this was a goal, as a policy. 

Member Hanks expressed that it does not appear there is a problem to be addressed.  

Community Development Director (CDD) Charlie Bryant clarified that staff was looking for 
EDAC feedback on the policy options outlined in the staff report.  Chair Reuter indicated that 
he understood that, and wanted to take feedback on the policy objectives as well. 

Among the policy options presented, including advocacy, regulation, cooperative incentive 
program, or hybrid approaches, members Thiercof, Hanks and LaRoche expressed 
preference for a “no action” option on the topic.  Member Rodarte-Young expressed 
uncertainty.  Member Hanks noted that many employees appreciate flexibility. 

Chari Reuter noted that the City Council has already selected the hybrid policy option, and 
asked the membership whether there was any comment on this.   

By a show of hands, EDAC voted 5-1 to not pursue any policy option now. 

Chair Reuter asked whether it is a good idea to increase schedule stability for restaurant and 
retail employees, in general. 

By a show of hands, EDAC voted 5-1 in support of the policy objective of increasing 
schedule stability for restaurant and retail workers. 

Chair Reuter asked whether the committee supported the goal of decreasing employee 
turnover. 

By a show of hands, EDAC voted 6-0 in support of the policy objective of decreasing 
employee turnover. 

Chair Reuter asked whether the committee supported the goal of reducing underemployment. 

By a show of hands, EDAC voted 6-0 in support of the policy objective of decreasing 
underemployment. 



Economic Development Advisory Committee Minutes 
July 20, 2016 
Page 7 of 8 

 

Member Rodarte-Young indicated her support of the decreasing underemployment objective 
is subject to the caveat that this is for employees who live in Emeryville, noting that the 
EDAC’s responsibility is to Emeryville residents. 

Member Bukowski commented that if the City is going to take action on this topic, to initiate 
the cooperative incentive program. 

Vice Chair Thiercof expressed agreement with Bukowski, and noted that staff should work 
with businesses to develop a model program. 

Member Rodarte-Young commented that trying to approve this ordinance by November 1st 
2016 is too aggressive a timeline to resolve such a complicated matter.  Rodarte-Young said 
it would be better to have a plan to test and understand outcomes on November 1st. 

Vice Chair Thiercof said the city needs models of processes, and experts from business to 
assist. 

Member Rodarte-Young expressed concern regarding asking groups that may have a vested 
interest to be a part of developing a program. 

Member Hanks said that the consensus seems to be that there is not enough information to 
understand the fiscal and economic impacts on the city and employers; in light of that, to try 
the certification model [the cooperative incentive policy option] to work out the potential 
issues objectively, and take the sufficient amount of time to develop and test outcomes. 

Vice Chair Thiercof noted that the circumstances are different for each business. 

Chair Reuter asked the committee if there is any concern that some employees work two or 
three jobs and have difficulties? 

By a show of hands, EDAC voted 6-0 to expressing concern that some employees 
working 2 or 3 jobs are having difficulties. 

Member Bukowski noted that the cost of housing is one reason for the difficulties. 

Member Rodarte-Young noted that regarding those who work two or three jobs, the minimum 
wage is higher in Emeryville and this phenomenon likely has to do with avoiding benefit costs 
associated with full time employment. 

Member Bukowski said the business community did not have a chance to respond to this 
policy initiative. 

Member Hanks noted that this policy development process highlights the lack of voice for 
business, and that the EDAC is limited by meeting on a quarterly basis. The City Council 
needs to approve more frequent meetings of the EDAC in order to allow adequate time to 
provide input on matters that affect the economic well-being of the City. 

Vice Chair Thiercof asked EDH Manager Smalley how he contacts businesses, whether he 
has emails for everyone affected?  Smalley answered he does not, but that many phone calls 
and visits have been conducted, and several mailings have gone out in addition to a sizable 
number of emails. 

Chari Reuter noted there has been a lot of outreach to business, and believes that the EDAC 
has provided sufficient information on its position for staff to report to Council. 



Economic Development Advisory Committee Minutes 
July 20, 2016 
Page 8 of 8 

 

Item 4.2 Draft Committee Work Plan FY 16-17 & Economic Development Strategy 

 

Chair Reuter recommended continuing this item to the next meeting. 

 

V. Information Items 

 

None 

 
VI. Future Agenda Items 

 

a) Work Plan / Strategic Plan: Recommendations for short list (three to five) “core goals” 
to advance economic development in Emeryville 

  

VII. Announcements/Member Comments  

 

None 

 

VIII. Next Meeting Date 

Regular Meeting October 19, 2016 11:30 AM 

VIV. Adjournment  

The meeting was adjourned at 1:07 PM. 

 
Prepared by:        Approved by Committee: 
 
___________________________           
 
 
 
Chadrick Smalley, Economic Development & Housing Manager 
Economic Development & Housing Division 
Community Development Department 


